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BDB DARULAMAN GOLF RESORT BERHAD (BDGRB)
owns and manages Darulaman Golf and Country Club
(DGCC) and the resort BDB Hotels.
DGCC is home to a sprawling
international standard 18-hole golf
course that spans across 190 acres of
land. Aptly dubbed the “Pride of the
North”, DGCC is one of the golf resort
that offers a complete host of resort
facilities. The green has been attracting
golfers from all over the country since
it first opened its doors in 1993. It was
upgraded in June 2013, and it has
been attracting golfers from all over
the country since then. Its popularity
has grown as a result of a number of
professional tournaments, including
the BDB Masters, one of the most
anticipated amateur tournaments in the
north.
Known as the “Pride of the North”,
BDGRB is one of the golf resorts that
provide a full range of resort amenities.
Swimming pools, badminton courts,
a gymnasium, conference facilities,
F&B outlets (Classic Café), a hotel, and
chalets are just a few of the amenities
available at the Resorts.
The resort BDB Hotels has a total of 104
unit rooms with apartment concept,
including Standard Suite, Deluxe Suite,
Family Suite with 2 bedrooms, and
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chalets that can accommodate your
retreat in total tranquillity.
Guests can enjoy the relaxing landscape
or participate in outdoor activities
such as golfing, canoeing, boating,
walking, and cycling at Darulaman Park
or Darulaman Trails, while the nearby
Fantasia Aquapark is ideal for children.
BDGRB improved safety and facilities
for the surrounding community and
club members since 2020.
At Hole 7, BDGRB has installed safety
nets to prevent stray balls from entering
the neighbourhood. BDGRB has also
performed golf course repair work such
as hollow tine to soften, tighten, and recompact the grass on the green.
Furthermore, BDGRB has worked with
the Department of Wildlife and National
Parks (Perhilitan) to ensure that wild
animals do not endanger public safety.
All of this is done to ensure the comfort
and safety of club members and the
general public, as well as to maintain
BDGRB’s reputation as one of the best
golf clubs in the Northern Region.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

1. Dato’ Haji Abdul Rahman
bin Abdullah

3. Tuan Haji Syed Yussof
bin Syed Othman

5. Mohd Iskandar
Dzulkarnain bin Ramli

2. Dato’ Haji Armishah
bin Siraj

4. Faris Najhan bin Hashim

6. Noran Zamini
bin Jamaluddin

Chairman

Director
Director

Director

Director

Director

COMPANY SECRETARY

AUDITORS

Khairulmuna binti Abd Ghani

Messrs KPMG PLT
Chartered Accountants
Level 18, Hunza Tower,
163E, Jalan Kelawei,
10250 Penang.
Tel : 04 2382288
Fax : 04 2382222

Practicing Certificate No. 202008004025
LS 0008190

MANAGEMENT TEAM

Nik Rozlihan binti Nik Ishak
Club Manager

Nor Hayati binti Zainuddin

BANKERS

Rosmin binti Said

Malayan Banking Berhad
No. 175 & 176 Jalan PJ 2
06000 Jitra
Kedah Darul Aman

Business Controller Property & Leisure
Head of Business Human Resource, Property & Leisure

Hanif bin Daud

Assistance Manager Golf & Recreation
REGISTERED OFFICE

Aras 9, Menara BDB
88, Lebuhraya Darulaman
05100 Alor Setar
Kedah Darul Aman
Tel: 04 7300303
Fax
: 04 7342714
Email
: bina_darulaman@bdb.com.my
Website : www.bdb.com.my

Affin Islamic Bank Berhad
Jitra Branch
No. 17 Jalan Tengku Maheran 2
Taman Tengku Maheran, Fasa 4
06000 Jitra
Kedah Darul Aman
IMMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANY

BDB Land Sdn Bhd

[Registration No.198101003170 (69284-P)]

PENULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY
ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL

RM18,562,235.00
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Bina Darulaman Berhad

[Registration No.199501003751 (332945-X)]
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BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

Tuan Haji Syed Yussof
bin Syed Othman
Director
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Dato’ Haji Armishah
bin Siraj
Director

Dato’ Haji Abdul Rahman
bin Abdullah
Chairman
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Faris Najhan bin Hashim
Director

Mohd Iskandar
Dzulkarnain bin Ramli
Director
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Noran Zamini
bin Jamaluddin
Director
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CHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT
“

The operating
environment for the year
under review continued
to be more challenging
compared to the previous
years. Due to Covid-19,
the Club’s performance
in 2020 has been heavily
impacted.

In order to enhance our
operational costs, the Club
took the initiative to improve,
revitalise and explore
improvement plan that
covers business operations
and segments i.e. refocusing
on Food and Beverages
Section via enhancing foods
offering, and online delivery.
Furthermore, re-assigning the
manpower to focus on other
business units within the BDB
Group that would cushion
the pandemic impact to the
Company.”

Dato’ Haji Abdul Rahman
bin Abdullah
Chairman
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Dear Valued Shareholders and Members,
On behalf of the Board of BDB Darulaman Golf Resort
Berhad (BDGRB), it is my pleasure to present the Annual
Report, incorporating the Financial Statements of the
Company for the Financial Year Ended 31 December
2020 (FY2020).
OVERVIEW OF 2020

Since the beginning of this year, the
country has been reeling from the
impact of the pandemic. With the
implementation of MCO in March, the
country as a whole has had to curtail
or temporary cease many activities.
The pandemic has adversely impacted
tourism-related sectors.
We were fortunate that the authorities
have allowed the Club to carry out
maintenance of our golf course and we
were able to resume golfing operations
after the lifting of MCO in May 2020.
The Company must operate
norms in accordance with
guidelines created by the
Golf Association (MGA)
Government.

under new
SOPs and
Malaysian
and the

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The operating environment for the year
under review continued to be more
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challenging compared to the previous
years. Due to Covid-19, the Club’s
performance in 2020 has been heavily
impacted.
The Company’s revenue dropped to
RM3.49 million compared to RM5.35
million recorded in the previous year,
reflecting sluggish domestic and
regional economies.
Despite a decrease in revenue, the
Company posted a lower Loss Before
Tax of RM1.70 million compared to
RM1.95 million recorded in 2019.
In order to enhance our operational
costs, the Club took the initiative
to improve, revitalise and explore
improvement plan that covers business
operations and segments i.e. refocusing
on Food and Beverages Section via
enhancing foods offering, and online
delivery. Furthermore, re-assigning the
manpower to focus on other business
units within the BDB Group that would
cushion the pandemic impact to the
Company.
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GOLF RESORT BERHAD

9

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

(Continued)

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Golf Division
The Golf Division contributed revenue
of RM1.87 million in 2020, a decrease
of 19% compared to the RM2.32 million
posted in 2019.
During the year, Darulaman Golf
and Country Club (DGCC) hosted 26
tournaments and golf events. Among
the major events hosted included:
• Wonderful Golf;
• Golf Idola;
• Farewell Golf Pengarah KEMAS;
• Golf Sempena Perlantikan YB
Senator Dato’ Wira Othman bin Aziz;
• Farewell Golf Dato Timbalan Ketua
Polis Kedah; and
• 1st Anniversary DGCC Range 2020.
In 2020, active DGRB members stood at
545 members, a decrease from the 654
members in 2019.
Food & Beverage Division
The Food & Beverage Division (F&B)
contributed revenue of RM921,271 in

10
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2020, a decrease of 52% compared to
RM1.92 million posted in 2019.
Hotel Division
The Hotel Division contributed revenue
of RM447,566 in 2020, a decrease of
59% compared to RM1.1 million in
2019.
New Business Segment
Due to Covid-19, the Company ventured
into a new business area, Security
and Cleaning Services. Contracts for
this new business were secured with
BDB Infra Sdn Bhd and Menara BDB.
Revenue contribution from these new
businesses were RM253,011.
REALIGNMENT OF BUSINESS
SEGMENTS IN 2021

For many businesses, small and large,
the measures taken to help deal with
the fallout of the pandemic have
led to shifting workplaces, declining
revenues and, in some cases, workforce
reductions. While some of these

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

(Continued)

measures taken are temporary, others
will have long-term implications.
According to a survey done by the
Malaysian Association of Hotels (MAH)
in April 2020, approximately 15 per
cent of the hotels in Malaysia may have
to shutdown their operations due to the
effects of the pandemic. Although hotel
services are part of the essential services
that are allowed to operate during
the MCO, hotels are prohibited from
accepting new guests, and they can
only provide services to those who had
already checked-in into the hotel before
March 18. Food and Beverage services
are to be limited to room service only,
and all other facilities and services of
the hotel should remain closed.
Considering the current business
environment, and after a thorough
deliberation, the Management and
the Board of BDGRB had taken a few
steps to review the overall business and
its plan to improve and revitalize the
financial position of the Company.
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board of Directors,
I wish to record our sincere appreciation
to all our members for their unwavering
support of DGCC. Our appreciation
also goes to the public for patronizing
our resort facilities.
To my colleagues on the Board, I wish
to thank them for their contribution,
support and active participation during
the Board meetings.
Last but by no means least, our
appreciation and gratitude to the
Management and Staff for their
dedication, commitment and loyalty
that has enabled the Company to
survive through this difficult time.
Dato’ Haji Abdul Rahman
bin Abdullah
Chairman

BDB DARULAMAN
GOLF RESORT BERHAD

11

EVENTS OF
2020

11 JULY 2020

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Farewell Golf Pengarah KEMAS

12 SEPTEMBER 2020

–––––––––––––––––––––––––

Friendly Golf
DGCC vs KGRUUM

12
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EVENTS OF 2020

(Continued)

26 SEPTEMBER 2020

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Q-dees Junior Golf Clinic

24 OCTOBER 2020

–––––––––––––––––––––––––

Golf Sempena
Perlantikan YB Dato’
Wira Othman bin Aziz
sebagai Senator
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PKP
INITIATIVES
CSR performed by BDB Group through
preparation and distribution of food
to front liners during PKP as a token of
appreciation.

BDGRB initiated CSR together with KDGA (Kedah Darulaman
Golf Association) and KGRUUM (Kelab Golf dan Rekreasi UUM)
to help the needy during PKP.

14
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PKP INITIATIVES

(Continued)

Special project for Hari Raya Aidilfitri and Aidiladha which is
special delivery of gulai daging batang pinang and DGCC lemang
special.

Initiatives to increase revenue – Contract
work for hollow tining at Dublin Golf
Club, Kelab Rekreasi Tentera Udara,
Kelab Golf Kuala Kangsar, Harvard Golf
Club and Kulim Golf Club.
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PKP INITIATIVES

(Continued)

Initiatives to increase revenue – Establishment of BDGRB Nursery and Landscape Unit.

Monthly landscape service Darulaman Sanctuary

Monthly road maintenance TTIS

Landscape project at Darulaman Utama, Kuala Ketil
housing project.
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PKP INITIATIVES

(Continued)

Initiatives to increase revenue – Establishment
of BDGRB Cleaning Services for BDB HQ
Housekeeping contract.

Initiatives to increase revenue – Establishment of BDGRB
Security Services.

Relocate staff to utilize manpower from BDGRB and Leisure for Security Services
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GOLF
CALENDAR 2020
JANUARY

JULY

NOVEMBER

12-13

11

28

SUN-MON

Reunion Golf

18

SAT

Golf Medal January

19

SUN

Royal Pahang

SAT

Farewell Golf
Pengarah KEMAS

12

SUN

Golf Gathering

25

SAT

Golf Welcoming
DO Kubang Pasu

DECEMBER

5

SAT

Get Together Golf

Farewell Golf
Tuan Zaki

Kelab Golf Rata Rata

AUGUST

12

SAT

FEBRUARY

4

13

SUN

19

SAT

26
6

SUN

THU

MSSD Kota Setar

7

SAT

TUE

Golf PKNK

5

WED

Golf Bridged 2 Div

Mini Golf Tournament
Mini Golf Tournament

Wonderful Golf

SEPTEMBER

1st Anniversary
DGCC Range 2020

MARCH

26

27

FRI

8-10

Q-dees Golf Clinic
SUN-TUE

Selection Golf
MSK Kedah

14

SAT

Rotary Club

JUNE

13

SAT

Golf Idola

18

SAT
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SUN

Mini Golf Tournament

OCTOBER

24

SAT

Golf Sempena Perlantikan
YB Senator Dato’ Wira
Othman bin Aziz

31

SAT

Farewell Golf Dato
Timbalan KP Kedah
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RECIPROCAL AND
AFFILIATED CLUBS
RECIPROCAL
1.

Kelab Golf Perkhidmatan Awam Malaysia

Kuala Lumpur

2.

Kelab Rekreasi Tentera Udara

Kuala Lumpur

3.
Kelab Golf Danau (UKM)
		
4.
Kelab Golf Negara Subang

Selangor
Selangor

5.

Kelab Rahman Putra Malaysia

Selangor

6.

Nilai Spring Golf & Country Club

Negeri Sembilan

7.

Staffield Country Resort

Negeri Sembilan

8.

Port Dickson Golf & Country Club

Negeri Sembilan

9.

Seremban International Golf Club

Negeri Sembilan

10.

Teluk Intan Golf & Country Club

Perak

11.

Royal Perak Golf Club

Perak

12.

A’Famosa Golf Resort Berhad

Melaka

13.

Kuala Terengganu Golf Resort

Terengganu

14.

Damai Golf & Country Club

Sarawak

15.

Samarahan Country Club

Sarawak

16.

Sabah Golf & Country Club

Sabah

17.

Nexus Golf Resort Karambunai

Sabah

18.

Labuan International Golf Club

Sabah

19.

Royal Pahang Golf Club

Pahang

AFFILIATED
1.

Meru Valley Golf & Country Club

Perak

2.

Monterez Golf & Country Club

Selangor

3.

Kelab Golf Putra

Perlis
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NOTIFICATION TO SHAREHOLDERS
Dear Valued Shareholders of BDB DARULAMAN GOLF RESORT BERHAD
Kindly be informed that the Annual Report 2020 is ready for your kind reference.
Please scan the QR code to review the Annual Report of the Company which is also available at
https://www.darulamangolf.bdb.com.my/agm-27.
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
1. Annual Report 2020

Scan Here
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
As part of our drive to support the green environment by reducing paper usage and pursuant to
Clause 208 of the Company’s Constitution, we wish to notify you by this letter that we have discontinued
the delivery of any document to our shareholders in printed copies.
For assistance kindly contact the following names as mentioned.
1. Hajariah at 604-7300 303 (ext.1133) or email address hajariah@bdb.com.my
2. Nik Rozlihan at 604-9170 001 (ext.107) or email address nik_rozlihan@bdb.com.my
We thank you for your continued support of BDB Darulaman Golf Resort Berhad.
By order of the Board,
Khairulmuna binti Abd Ghani
Practicing Certificate No. 202008004025
LS 0008190
Company Secretary
8 July 2021
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

for the year ended 31 December 2020

The Directors hereby submit their report and the audited financial statements of the Company for the
financial year ended 31 December 2020.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is principally engaged in the operation and management of a golf resort and hotel
business. There has been no significant change in the nature of these activities during the financial year.
ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

The Directors regard Perbadanan Kemajuan Negeri Kedah (“PKNK”), a statutory body formed in
Malaysia as the Company’s ultimate holding corporation, during the financial year and until the date of
this report.
RESULTS

RM

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Loss for the year
1,704,845
–––––––––––––
RESERVES AND PROVISIONS

There were no material transfers to or from reserves and provisions during the financial year under
review other than those disclosed in the financial statements.
DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid since the end of previous financial year and the Directors do not recommend any
dividend to be paid for the financial year under review.
DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY

Directors who served during the financial year until the date of this report are:
Dato’ Haji Abdul Rahman bin Abdullah
Syed Yussof bin Syed Othman
Faris Najhan bin Hashim
Mohd Iskandar Dzulkarnain bin Ramli
Noran Zamini bin Jamaluddin
Dato’ Haji Armishah bin Siraj
Fakhruzi bin Ahmad
YM Kol Dato’ Tunku Aziz Bendahara bin Tunku Nong
Abdul Halim bin Hassan
22
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(Appointed on 25 August 2020)
(Appointed on 25 August 2020)
(Appointed on 25 August 2020)
(Appointed on 25 August 2020)
(Appointed on 25 August 2020)
(Appointed on 1 November 2020)
(Resigned on 31 July 2020)
(Resigned on 22 October 2020)
(Resigned on 22 October 2020)
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

for the year ended 31 December 2020 (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

None of the Directors holding office at 31 December 2020 had any interest in the ordinary shares of the
Company and of its related corporations during the financial year.
DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director of the Company has received nor become
entitled to receive any benefit (other than those fees and other benefit included in the aggregate amount
of remuneration received or due and receivable by Directors as shown in the financial statements or
the fixed salary of a full time employee of the Company or of its related corporations) by reason of a
contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the Director or with a firm of which the
Director is a member, or with a company in which the Director has a substantial financial interest.
There were no arrangements during and at the end of the financial year which had the object of enabling
Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of
the Company or any other body corporate.
ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

There were no changes in the issued and paid-up capital of the Company and no debentures were
issued during the financial year.
OPTIONS GRANTED OVER UNISSUED SHARES

No options were granted to any person to take up unissued shares of the Company during the financial
year.
INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE COSTS

No indemnity was given to any Directors or officers of the Company during the financial year. The
professional indemnity insurance was however effected for all the Directors. The cost of such insurance
thereon is as disclosed in the Directors’ Report of its penultimate holding company.
OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION

Before the financial statements of the Company were made out, the Directors took reasonable steps to
ascertain that:
i)

all known bad debts have been written off and adequate provision made for doubtful debts, and

ii)

any current assets which were unlikely to be realised in the ordinary course of business have been
written down to an amount which they might be expected so to realise.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

for the year ended 31 December 2020 (Continued)

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances:
i)

that would render the amount written off for bad debts or the amount of the provision for doubtful
debts in the Company inadequate to any substantial extent, or

ii)

that would render the value attributed to the current assets in the financial statements of the
Company misleading, or

iii) which have arisen which render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities
of the Company misleading or inappropriate, or
iv) not otherwise dealt with in this report or the financial statements, that would render any amount
stated in the financial statements of the Company misleading.
At the date of this report, there does not exist :
i)

any charge on the assets of the Company that has arisen since the end of the financial year and
which secures the liabilities of any other person, or

ii)

any contingent liability in respect of the Company that has arisen since the end of the financial year.

No contingent liability or other liability of the Company has become enforceable, or is likely to become
enforceable within the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which, in the opinion
of the Directors, will or may substantially affect the ability of the Company to meet its obligations as
and when they fall due.
In the opinion of the Directors, the financial performance of the Company for the financial year ended
31 December 2020 has not been substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material
and unusual nature nor has any such item, transaction or event occurred in the interval between the end
of that financial year and the date of this report.

24
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

for the year ended 31 December 2020 (Continued)

AUDITORS

The auditors, KPMG PLT have indicated their willingness to accept re-appointment.
The auditors’ remuneration is disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements.
Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

.....................................................................
Dato’ Haji Abdul Rahman bin Abdullah
Director

.....................................................................
Syed Yusoff bin Syed Othman
Director
Alor Setar,
Date: 25 May 2021

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

BDB DARULAMAN
GOLF RESORT BERHAD

25

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

as at 31 December 2020

Note
2020
		RM

2019
RM

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

3
4

Total non-current assets		
Inventories
5
Trade and other receivables
6
Deposits with licensed banks
7
Cash and bank balances		
Total current assets		
Total assets		
Equity

12,933,624 13,727,714
316,022
421,363
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
13,249,646 14,149,077
–––––––––– ––––––––––
25,663
34,990
764,576
658,470
108,994
108,721
324,536
271,999
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
1,223,769
1,074,180
–––––––––– ––––––––––
14,473,415 15,223,257
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––

Share capital
8
Accumulated losses		

18,562,235 18,562,235
(22,931,242) (21,226,397)
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
Total equity attributable to owners of the Company 		
(4,369,007) (2,664,162)
–––––––––– ––––––––––
Liabilities
Borrowings
9
Lease liabilities		

18,564
104,429
227,358
332,411
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
Total non-current liabilities 		
245,922
436,840
–––––––––– ––––––––––
Borrowings
9
197,927
436,868
Lease liabilities		
105,053
99,691
Trade and other payables
10
18,293,520 16,914,020
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
Total current liabilities		 18,596,500 17,450,579
–––––––––– ––––––––––
Total liabilities		 18,842,422 17,887,419
–––––––––– ––––––––––
Total equity and liabilities 		
14,473,415 15,223,257
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
The notes on pages 31 to 68 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

for the year ended 31 December 2020

Note
2020
		RM

2019
RM

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Revenue

11

Cost of sales

12

3,493,373

5,350,707

(3,941,041) (4,866,124)
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
Gross (loss)/profit		
(447,668)
484,583
Distribution expenses		

(16,611)

(58,156)

Administrative expenses		

(1,596,224)

(2,418,372)

Other operating income		
Results from operating activities

13

Finance costs

14

Tax expense

17

387,016
91,447
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
(1,673,487) (1,900,498)

(31,358)
(50,860)
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
Loss before tax		
(1,704,845) (1,951,358)
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
Loss representing total comprehensive expense for the year		
(1,704,845) (1,951,358)
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––

The notes on pages 31 to 68 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the year ended 31 December 2020

		Non		distributable
Share
Accumulated
capital
losses
RM
RM

Total
equity
RM

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
At 1 January 2019
18,562,235 (19,275,039)
(712,804)
Loss representing total comprehensive
expense for the year
At 31 December 2019/1 January 2020
Loss representing total comprehensive
expense for the year
At 31 December 2020
			

(1,951,358) (1,951,358)
––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
18,562,235 (21,226,397) (2,664,162)
(1,704,845) (1,704,845)
––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
18,562,235 (22,931,242) (4,369,007)
––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
Note 8

The notes on pages 31 to 68 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

for the year ended 31 December 2020

Note
2020
		RM

2019
RM

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Cash flows from operating activities				
Loss before tax		

(1,704,845)

(1,951,358)

Adjustments for:				
		 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
3
807,954
968,664
		 Depreciation of right-of-use assets
4
105,341
105,341
		 Interest expense
14
31,358
50,860
		 Interest income
13
(273)
(4,140)
		Government grant		
(18,600)
		 Reversal of impairment loss on trade receivables, net
13
(54,095)
		 Property, plant and equipment written-off
13
94
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
Operating loss before working capital changes		
(760,465)
(903,234)

		 Changes in working capital:				
			 Inventories 		
9,327
420
			 Trade and other receivables 		
(106,106)
(52,351)
			 Trade and other payables		
1,379,500
1,149,849
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
		 Net cash from operating activities		 522,256
194,684
–––––––––– ––––––––––
Cash flows from investing activities				
		 Purchase of plant and equipment		
		 Interest income received		

(13,864)
(32,405)
273
4,140
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
Net cash used in investing activities		
(13,591)
(28,265)
–––––––––– ––––––––––
Cash flows from financing activities 				

		
		
		
		
		

Placement of pledged deposits 		
Bank balances pledged with a licensed bank		
Repayment of borrowings
9.1
Payment of lease liabilities
9.1
Interest paid 		

(273)
(336)
(36,000)
(39,804)
(177,367)
(203,379)
(99,691)
(94,602)
(31,358)
(50,860)
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
Net cash used in financing activities		
(344,689)
(388,981)
–––––––––– ––––––––––
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents		
163,976
(222,562)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year		
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year
ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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(244,714)
(22,152)
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
(80,738)
(244,714)
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

for the year ended 31 December 2020 (Continued)

Note
A. Cash and cash equivalents included in the statement of cash flows comprise the following statement
of financial position amounts:
		2020
		RM

2019
RM

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Cash and bank balances 		
Less : Bank balances pledged		
Less : Bank overdraft		

324,536
271,999
(298,334)
(262,334)
(106,940)
(254,379)
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
			
(80,738)
(244,714)
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
Cash and bank balances placed in banks which are government-related entities amounted to
RM315,440 (2019 : RM262,860).
Included in the cash and bank balances is an amount of RM298,334 (2019 : RM262,334) pledged as
security for bank overdraft facility as disclosed in Note 9.3 to the financial statements.
Note
2020
		RM

2019
RM

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Cash outflows for leases as a lessee
Included in net cash from financing activities				
Interest paid in relation to lease liabilities

14

20,309

25,398

Payment of lease liabilities		

99,691
94,602
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
Total cash outflows for leases		 120,000
120,000
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––

The notes on pages 31 to 68 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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BDB Darulaman Golf Resort Berhad is a public company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled
in Malaysia. The addresses of the principal place of business and registered office of the Company are
as follows:
Principal place of business
Darulaman Golf and Country Club
Bandar Darulaman
06007 Jitra
Kedah Darul Aman
Registered office
Aras 9, Menara BDB
88, Lebuhraya Darulaman
05100 Alor Setar
Kedah Darul Aman
The Company is principally engaged in the operation and management of a golf resort and hotel
business.
The immediate holding company and penultimate holding company are BDB Land Sdn. Bhd. and Bina
Darulaman Berhad respectively, both of which are incorporated in Malaysia. Bina Darulaman Berhad
is listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The ultimate holding corporation is
Perbadanan Kemajuan Negeri Kedah, a statutory body formed in Malaysia.
These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 25 May 2021.
1.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

Statement of compliance
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Malaysian
Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRS”), International Financial Reporting Standards and
the requirements of Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.
The following are accounting standards, amendments and interpretations that have been
issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”) but have not been adopted
by the Company:
MFRSs and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020
• Amendment to MFRS 16, Leases – Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
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(Continued)

1.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(a)

Statement of compliance (continued)
MFRSs and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021
• Amendments to MFRS 9, Financial Instruments, MFRS 139, Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement, MFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, MFRS 4,
Insurance Contracts and MFRS 16, Leases – Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2
MFRSs and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April
2021
• Amendment to MFRS 16, Leases – Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June
2021
MFRSs and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022
• Amendments to MFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards
(Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2018−2020)
• Amendments to MFRS 3, Business Combinations – Reference to the Conceptual
Framework
• Amendments to MFRS 9, Financial Instruments (Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards
2018−2020)
• Amendments to Illustrative Examples accompanying MFRS 16, Leases (Annual
Improvements to MFRS Standards 2018−2020)
• Amendments to MFRS 116, Property, Plant and Equipment − Proceeds before Intended
Use
• Amendments to MFRS 137, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets −
Onerous Contracts − Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
• Amendments to MFRS 141, Agriculture (Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards
2018−2020)
MFRSs and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023
• MFRS 17, Insurance Contracts
• Amendments to MFRS 101, Presentation of Financial Statements – Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and Disclosures of Accounting Policies
• Amendments to MFRS 108, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and
Errors – Definition of Accounting Estimates
MFRSs and amendments effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date yet
to be confirmed
• Amendments to MFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements and MFRS 128, Investments
in Associates and Joint Ventures – Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture
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(Continued)

1.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(a)

Statement of compliance (continued)
The Company plans to apply the abovementioned accounting standards and amendments,
where applicable, in the respective financial years when the abovementioned accounting
standards, interpretations and amendments become effective.
The initial application of the accounting standards or amendments are not expected to have
any material financial impacts to the current period and prior period financial statements of
the Company.

(b)

Basis of measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis other than as
disclosed in Note 2 to the financial statements.
The Company recorded a loss of RM1,704,845 during the financial year ended 31 December
2020 and as of that date, there was a deficit in total equity attributable to owners of the
Company of RM4,369,007 and the Company’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets
by RM17,372,731, thereby indicating the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The validity of
the going concern assumption is on the premise that the Company has the commitment from
the penultimate holding company to provide continuous financial support to the Company,
to enable the Company to meet its liabilities as and when they fall due to maintain the
Company in existence as a going concern for the foreseeable future.
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis as the penultimate
holding company has confirmed its financial support to enable the Company to continue as
a going concern.

(c)

Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (“RM”), which is the Company’s
functional currency. All financial information is presented in RM, unless otherwise stated.

(d)

Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with MFRSs requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting
policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in
any future periods affected.
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(Continued)

1.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(d)

Use of estimates and judgements (continued)
There are no significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying
accounting policies that have significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements other than Note 4 – extension options and incremental borrowing rate in relation
to leases.

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to the periods presented in
these financial statements, unless otherwise stated.
(a)

Financial instruments
(i)

Recognition and initial measurement
A financial asset or a financial liability is recognised in the statement of financial position
when, and only when, the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.
A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without significant financing component)
or a financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus or minus, for an item not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its
acquisition or issuance. A trade receivable without a significant financing component
is initially measured at the transaction price.

(ii)

Financial instrument categories and subsequent measurement
Financial assets
Categories of financial assets are determined on initial recognition and are not
reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company changes its
business model for managing financial assets in which case all affected financial assets
are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change of the
business model.
Amortised cost category comprises financial assets that are held within a business
model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows and its
contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. The financial assets are
not designated as fair value through profit or loss. Subsequent to initial recognition,
these financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain
or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.
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(Continued)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(a)

Financial instruments (continued)
(ii)

Financial instrument categories and subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Interest income is recognised by applying effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount except for credit impaired financial assets (see Note 2(f)(i)) where the effective
interest rate is applied to the amortised cost.
All financial assets are subject to impairment assessment (see Note 2(f)(i)).
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities not categorised as fair value through profit or loss are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in the profit or
loss. Any gains or losses on derecognition are also recognised in the profit or loss.

(iii)

Derecognition
A financial asset or part of it is derecognised when, and only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or control of the asset is not
retained or substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset
are transferred to another party.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new
liability assumed) and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in equity
is recognised in profit or loss.
A financial liability or a part of it is derecognised when, and only when, the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expires. A financial liability is
also derecognised when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified
liability are substantially different, in which case, a new financial liability based on
modified terms is recognised at fair value. On derecognition of a financial liability,
the difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished or
transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets
transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in the profit or loss.

(iv)

Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the
statement of financial position when, and only when, the Company currently has a
legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on
a net basis or to realise the asset and liability simultaneously.
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(Continued)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Property, plant and equipment
(i)

Recognition and measurement
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less any accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset
and any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to working condition for
its intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring
the site on which they are located. The cost of self-constructed assets also includes the
cost of materials and direct labour.
Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is
capitalised as part of that equipment.
When significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property,
plant and equipment.
The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant
and equipment and is recognised net within “other operating income” or “other
operating expenses” respectively in profit or loss.

(ii)

Subsequent costs
The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is
recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic
benefits embodied within the component will flow to the Company, and its cost can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced component is derecognised to
profit or loss. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment
are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

(iii)

Depreciation
Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant
components of individual assets are assessed, and if a component has a useful life
that is different from the remainder of that asset, then that component is depreciated
separately.
Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of each component of an item of property, plant and equipment from the
date that they are available for use.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
(iii)

Depreciation (continued)
The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

		 Golf course
99 years
		 Club house
50 years
		 Course machinery, machinery, equipment and computers
4 – 5 years
		 Motor vehicles
5 years
		 Furniture, fixtures and fittings
5 years
		 Renovation and electrical installation
5 years
		 Housekeeping and kitchen equipment
5 years
		
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at end of the
reporting period, and adjusted as appropriate.
(c)

Leases
(i)

Definition of a lease
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether
a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Company
assesses whether:
• the contract involves the use of an identified asset – this may be specified explicitly
or implicitly, and should be physically distinct or represent substantially all of the
capacity of a physically distinct asset. If the supplier has a substantive substitution
right, then the asset is not identified;
• the customer has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from
use of the asset throughout the period of use; and
• the customer has the right to direct the use of the asset. The customer has this right
when it has the decision-making rights that are most relevant to changing how and
for what purpose the asset is used. In rare cases where the decision about how and
for what purpose the asset is used is predetermined, the customer has the right to
direct the use of the asset if either the customer has the right to operate the asset;
or the customer designed the asset in a way that predetermines how and for what
purpose it will be used.
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(Continued)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c)

Leases (continued)
(i)

Definition of a lease (continued)
At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease component, the
Company allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease and non-lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of
properties in which the Company is a lessee, it has elected not to separate non-lease
components and will instead account for the lease and non-lease components as a
single lease component.

(ii)

Recognition and initial measurement
(a)

As a lessee
The Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease
commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred
and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease
incentives received.
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments
that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the respective
Company’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Company entities uses its
incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise fixed
payments, including in-substance fixed payments less any incentives receivable.
The Company excludes variable lease payments that linked to future performance
or usage of the underlying asset from the lease liability. Instead, these payments
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the performance or use
occurs.
The Company has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
for short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of
low-value assets. The Company recognises the lease payments associated with
these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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(Continued)

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c)

Leases (continued)
(iii)

Subsequent measurement
(a)

As a lessee
The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line
method from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life
of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives
of right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those of property,
plant and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced
by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the
lease liability.
The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. It is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising
from a change in an index or rate, if there is a revision of in-substance fixed
lease payments, or if there is a change in the Company’s estimate of the amount
expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the Company
changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option.
When the lease liability is remeasured, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

(d)

Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
The cost of inventories is calculated using the weighted average method, and includes
expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and other costs incurred in bringing them
to their existing location and condition.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

(e)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, balances and deposits with banks and
highly liquid investments which have an insignificant risk of changes in fair value with original
maturities of three months or less, and are used by the Company in the management of its
short term commitments. For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents are presented net of pledged deposits and bank overdraft, if any.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f)

Impairment
(i)

Financial assets
The Company recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses on financial
assets measured at amortised cost. Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted
estimate of credit losses.
The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime expected
credit loss, except for debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk
at the reporting date, cash and bank balance and other debt securities for which
credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition, which are measured
at 12-month expected credit loss. Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit loss.
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition and when estimating expected credit loss, the Company
consider reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and
analysis, based on the Company’s historical experience and informed credit assessment
and including forward-looking information, where available.
Lifetime expected credit losses are the expected credit losses that result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the asset, while 12-month expected
credit losses are the portion of expected credit losses that result from default events
that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. The maximum period
considered when estimating expected credit losses is the maximum contractual period
over which the Company is exposed to credit risk.
The Company estimates the expected credit losses on trade receivables using a
provision matrix with reference to historical credit loss experience.
An impairment loss in respect of financial assets measured at amortised cost is
recognised in profit or loss and the carrying amount of the asset is reduced through
the use of an allowance account.
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at
amortised cost. A financial asset is credit impaired when one or more events that have
a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have
occurred.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f)

Impairment (continued)
(i)

Financial assets (continued)
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or full) to
the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Company determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to
the write-off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to
enforcement activities in order to comply with the Company’s procedures for recovery
amounts due.

(ii)

Other assets
The carrying amounts of other assets (except for inventories) are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.
If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or cash-generating unit.
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value
in use and its fair value less costs of disposal. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset or cash-generating unit.
An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its related cashgenerating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in
respect of cash-generating units are allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the
other assets in the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) on a pro rata
basis.
Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at the end of each
reporting period for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists.
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. An
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation
or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss in the financial year in which the reversals are
recognised.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(g)

Equity instruments
Instruments classified as equity are measured at cost on initial recognition and are not
remeasured subsequently.
(i)

Issue expenses
Costs directly attributable to the issue of instruments classified as equity are recognised
as a deduction from equity.

(ii)

Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

(h)

Employee benefits
(i)

Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefit obligations in respect of salaries, annual bonuses, paid
annual leave and sick leave are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed
as the related service is provided.
A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash
bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Company has a present legal or constructive
obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee
and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

(ii)

State plans
The Company’s contributions to statutory pension funds are charged to profit or loss
in the financial year to which they relate. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an
asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available.

(i)

Provisions
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding
of the discount is recognised as finance cost.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(j)

Revenue and other income
(i)

Revenue
Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a
customer in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer, excluding
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Company recognises revenue when
(or as) it transfers control over a product or service to customer. An asset is transferred
when (or as) the customer obtains control of the asset.
The Company transfers control of a good or service at a point in time unless one of the
following overtime criteria is met:
(a)
(b)
(c)

(ii)

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided as
the Company performs;
the Company’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or
the Company’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use and
the Company has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method in profit
or loss.

(iii)

Rental income
Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease
incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income, over
the term of the lease.

(iv)

Government grant
Government grant are recognised on an accrual basis as describe in Note 2(l).

(k)

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

(l)

Government grant
Government grants are in respect of advances and subsidies awarded by the Government
for the upgrading of green and golf course. Grants that compensate expenses incurred are
recognised as income to match the costs that it is intended to compensate.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(l)

Government grant (continued)
An asset-related grant is recorded as a deduction against the carrying amount of the related
asset which is subsequently recognised in income by way of reduced depreciation charges.
Government grants are recognised initially as deferred income at fair value when there is
reasonable assurance that they will be received and that the Company will comply with
the conditions associated with the grant; they are then recognised in profit or loss as other
operating income on a systematic basis.
Grants that compensate the Company for expenses incurred are recognised in profit or
loss as other income on a systematic basis in the same period in which the expenses are
recognised.

(m)

Income tax
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly
in equity or other comprehensive income.
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the
year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous financial years.
Deferred tax is recognised using the liability method, providing for temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position
and their tax bases. Deferred tax is not recognised for the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences
when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax
authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised
simultaneously.
A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and are reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.
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2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(n)

Fair value measurements
Fair value of an asset or a liability, except for lease transactions, is determined as the price
that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The measurement assumes that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market
or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market.
For non-financial asset, the fair value measurement takes into account a market participant’s
ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses observable market
data as far as possible. Fair value is categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy
based on the input used in the valuation technique as follows:
Level 1 : quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the Company can access at the measurement date.
Level 2 : inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3 : unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
The Company recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the date
of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfers.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Total
RM

9,087,806

2,666,718

166,381

1,092,977

860,985

126,444

23,607,065

1,745
7,910
20,000
2,750
32,405
(3)
(40,696)
(21,282)
(61,981)
––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– –––––––––––––

9,605,754

At 31 December 2019/
1 January 2020
9,605,754
9,087,806
2,668,463
166,378
1,060,191
880,985
107,912 23,577,489
								
Additions
3,300
4,200
6,364
13,864
––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
At 31 December 2020
9,605,754
9,087,806
2,671,763
166,378
1,064,391
880,985
114,276 23,591,353
––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– –––––––––––––

Additions
Write-off

At 1 January 2019

Cost

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

			Course
			
machinery,				
House
			machinery		Furniture,
Renovation
keeping
Golf
Club
equipment and
Motor
fixtures and
and electrical
and kitchen
course
house
computers
vehicles
fittings
installation
equipment
RM
RM
RM
RM
RM
RM
RM
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Total
RM

3,482,993

1,826,667

159,940

886,132

182,886

49,346

8,942,998

2,452,062

3,664,749

2,250,742

164,066

906,857

346,163

65,136

9,849,775

97,028
181,756
424,075
4,132
61,325
163,277
37,071
968,664
(6)
(40,600)
(21,281)
(61,887)
––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– –––––––––––––

2,355,034

At 31 December 2020

At 31 December 2019/
1 January 2020

At 1 January 2019

Carrying amounts

7,056,664
5,241,301
133,009
248
110,948
363,285
28,169 12,933,624
––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– –––––––––––––

7,153,692
5,423,057
417,721
2,312
153,334
534,822
42,776 13,727,714
––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– –––––––––––––

7,250,720
5,604,813
840,051
6,441
206,845
678,099
77,098 14,664,067
––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– –––––––––––––

97,028
181,756
288,012
2,064
46,586
171,537
20,971
807,954
––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
At 31 December 2020
2,549,090
3,846,505
2,538,754
166,130
953,443
517,700
86,107 10,657,729
––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– –––––––––––––

Depreciation for
the year

At 31 December 2019/
1 January 2020

Depreciation for
the year
Write-off

1 January 2019

Accumulated
depreciation

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

			Course
			
machinery,				
House
			machinery		Furniture,
Renovation
keeping
Golf
Club
equipment and
Motor
fixtures and
and electrical
and kitchen
course
house
computers
vehicles
fittings
installation
equipment
RM
RM
RM
RM
RM
RM
RM

3.
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3.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1

Assets under hire purchase
Included in the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment are the following assets
acquired under hire purchase arrangement:

		2020
		RM

2019
RM

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Course machinery, machinery, equipment and computers		

57,994
239,034
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––

Details of the terms and conditions of the hire purchase arrangements are disclosed in Note
9.2 to the financial statements.
3.2

Fully depreciated assets
Included in property, plant and equipment of the Company are fully depreciated assets
which are still in use costing RM2,900,431 (2019 : RM2,879,007).

4.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

			 Building
			
RM

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

At 1 January 2019			
526,704
Depreciation 			
(105,341)
		–––––––––––––
At 31 December 2019/1 January 2020			
421,363
Depreciation 			
(105,341)
		–––––––––––––
At 31 December 2020			
316,022
		–––––––––––––
The Company leases a hotel building for five years, with an option to renew the lease after that
date.
4.1

Extension options
The lease of hotel building contains extension option exercisable by the Company before
the end of the non-cancellable contract period. The extension option held are exercisable
only by the Company and not by the lessor. The Company assesses at lease commencement
whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension option. The Company reassesses
whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the option if there is a significant event or
significant change in circumstances within its control.
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4.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

4.2

Significant judgements and assumptions in relation to lease
The Company assesses at lease commencement by applying significant judgement whether
it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension option. The Company considers all facts
and circumstances including their past practice and any cost that will be incurred to change
the asset if an option to extend is not taken, to help them determine the lease term.
The Company also applied judgement and assumptions in determining the incremental
borrowing rate of the lease. The Company first determine the closest available borrowing
rates before using significant judgement to determine the adjustments required to reflect
the term, security, value or economic environment of the lease.

5.

INVENTORIES

		2020
		RM

2019
RM

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Food, beverage and tobacco		
Consumables		
Spare parts		

15,447
23,597
10,216
11,163
230
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
			
25,663
34,990
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
During the year, the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in cost of sales of the
Company was RM402,402 (2019 : RM703,840).
6.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Note
2020
		RM

2019
RM

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Trade
Third parties 		
Less : Allowance for impairment		

530,311
499,899
(172,260)
(172,260)
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
				
358,051
327,639
				
Amount due from immediate holding company
6.1
107,523
24,816
Amount due from penultimate holding company
6.1
2,488
29,493
Amount due from related companies
6.1
128,996
21,881
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
				
597,058
403,829
–––––––––– ––––––––––
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6.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Note
2020
		RM

2019
RM

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
				
Non-trade
Other receivables		
Less : Allowance for impairment		

4,565
19,735
(2,989)
(2,989)
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
				
1,576
16,746
				
Deposits		
45,568
56,680
Prepayments		
120,374
181,215
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
				
167,518
254,641
–––––––––– ––––––––––
				
764,576
658,470
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
6.1

Amounts due from immediate holding company, penultimate holding company and
related companies
The trade amounts due from immediate holding company, penultimate holding company
and related companies are subject to normal trade terms.

7.

DEPOSITS WITH LICENSED BANKS

		2020
		RM

2019
RM

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
			
Deposits placed with licensed banks which aged
more than 3 months 		
108,994
108,721
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
The deposits placed in licensed banks which are government-related entities are pledged as
security for banks guarantee facility.
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8.

SHARE CAPITAL
2020

2019

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Amount
RM

Number of
shares

Amount
RM

Number of
shares

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Issued and paid-up with par value
classified as equity instruments
Ordinary shares
Class A
At beginning of year/
At end of year

5,000,000

50,000

5,000,000

50,000

Class B
At beginning of year/
At end of year

10,962,235

1,800

10,962,235

1,800

Class C
At beginning of year/
At end of year
Total

2,600,000
1,100
2,600,000
1,100
––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
18,562,235
52,900 18,562,235
52,900
––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– –––––––––––––

8.1

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to
time, and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company.

8.2

All classes of shares rank pari passu in all respects with the following exceptions :
(i)

Each Class B Share and Class C Share (but not a Class A Share) shall entitle the holder or
its nominee to be a golfing member of Darulaman Golf and Country Club (hereinafter
referred to as “The Club”) subject to such rules and regulations of the Club as may
from time to time be laid down by the Board of Directors of the Company.

(ii)

On the winding up of the Company, the holders of Class B Shares and Class C Shares
shall be entitled to be repaid in proportion to the amounts subscribed and paid up by
way of capital and premium, in priority to the holders of Class A Shares.

(iii)

The holders of Class A Shares shall be entitled to appoint 50% of the Directors and to
remove and replace the same or to fill any casual vacancies and the other 50% of the
Directors shall be elected jointly by the holders of Class B Shares and Class C Shares
from amongst the members.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

BDB DARULAMAN
GOLF RESORT BERHAD

51

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

9.

BORROWINGS

Note
2020
		RM

2019
RM

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Current 				
				
Hire purchase creditors
9.2
90,987
182,489
Bank overdraft
9.3
106,940
254,379
				
Non-current
Hire purchase creditors

197,927

436,868

18,564
104,429
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
				
216,491
541,297
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
9.1

9.2

Reconciliation of movement of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities:

		Net		Net
		
change in
At
change in
At
financing
31.12.2019/
financing
1.1.2019
cash flows
1.1.2020
cash flows
RM
RM
RM
RM

At
31.12.2020
RM

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Hire purchase
creditors
Lease liabilities
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490,297
(203,379)
286,918
(177,367)
109,551
526,704
(94,602)
432,102
(99,691)
332,411
––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
1,017,001
(297,981)
719,020
(277,058)
441,962
––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
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9.

BORROWINGS

9.2

(CONTINUED)

Hire purchase creditors are payable as follows:

		2020			2019

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

			Present			Present
Future		
value of
Future		
value of
minimum		minimum
minimum		minimum
lease		lease
lease		lease
payments
Interest
payments
payments
Interest
payments
RM
RM
RM
RM
RM
RM

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Less than 1 year
Between 1
and 5 years
			

9.3

93,445

2,458

90,987

194,622

12,133

182,489

18,687
123
18,564
106,447
2,018
104,429
–––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––
112,132
2,581
109,551
301,069
14,151
286,918
–––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– –––––––––– ––––––––––

Security
Bank overdraft is secured by bank balances pledged with a licensed bank as disclosed in
statement of cash flows.

10.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Note
2020
		RM

2019
RM

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Trade
Trade payables 		

320,039

451,305

5,770,449
4,021,198
4,503,299
252,782
98,625
3,064,580
262,548

4,769,652
3,199,591
4,144,481
250,782
298,292
3,348,466
451,451

Non-trade
Amount due to penultimate holding company
10.1
Amount due to immediate holding company
10.1
Amount due to related companies
10.1
Refundable deposits		
Deferred income		
Other payables
10.2
Accruals		
				

17,973,481 16,462,715
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
				
18,293,520 16,914,020
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
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10.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

10.1 Amounts due to penultimate holding company, immediate holding company and related
companies
The non-trade amounts due to penultimate holding company, immediate holding company
and related companies are unsecured, interest-free and payable on demand.
10.2 Other payables
Included in the other payables is government grants amounted to RM102,020 (2019:
RM102,020).
11.

REVENUE

		2020
		RM

2019
RM

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
			
Subscription and green fees		
685,856
837,506
Rental of golfing facilities		
838,230
1,029,673
Rental of premises		
76,078
190,379
Project nominee fees		
206,270
215,186
Food, beverage and banquet sales 		
921,271
1,924,691
Room sales		
447,566
1,097,706
Miscellaneous income		
318,102
55,566
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
				
3,493,373
5,350,707
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
12.

COST OF SALES

		2020
		RM

2019
RM

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
			
Subscription and green fees expenses		
632,295
714,882
Rental of golfing facilities expenses		
629,584
811,094
Depreciation		 985,250
919,189
Food, beverage and banquet sales 		
885,286
1,349,028
Room sales		
638,609
1,003,698
Miscellaneous expenses		
170,017
68,233
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
				
3,941,041
4,866,124
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
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13.

RESULTS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Results from operating activities is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
Note
2020
		RM

2019
RM

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Auditors’ remuneration 		

18,000

24,000

Material expense/(income)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 3)		
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 4)		
Reversal of impairment loss on trade receivables		
Property, plant and equipment written-off 		
Government grants
13.1
Interest income		

807,954
105,341
(386,400)
(273)

968,664
105,341
(54,095)
94
(18,600)
(4,140)

Expenses arising from leases				
Expenses relating to short term leases
13.2
12,500
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
13.1 In the current financial year, the Company received government grants of RM386,400 as
wage subsidy to retain local employees during the approved period of economic uncertainty
bought about by the Coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreaks.
In the previous financial year, government grants amounting to RM18,600 are in respect of
utilisation of advances and subsidies awarded by the Government for upgrading of green
and golf course.
13.2 The Company leased motor vehicle with remaining contract terms of 5 months at beginning
of last year. The lease is short-term. The Company has elected not to recognised right-ofuse assets and liabilities for the lease.
14.

FINANCE COSTS

		2020
		RM

2019
RM

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
			
Interest expense on hire purchase creditors		
11,049
25,462
Interest expense on lease liabilities		
20,309
25,398
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
				
31,358
50,860
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
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15.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

		2020
		RM

2019
RM

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Personnel expense (including key management personnel)			
			
Wages and salaries		
2,227,621
2,604,684
Social security costs 		
37,503
46,472
Contributions to defined contribution plan		
266,645
312,181
Other benefits		
163,025
212,113
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
				
2,694,794
3,175,450
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––

16.

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION

The key management personnel compensation are as follows:
		2020
		RM

2019
RM

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Directors of the Company			
- Fees 		
18,000
21,000
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––

17.

TAX EXPENSE

Recognised in profit or loss
		2020
		RM

2019
RM

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
			
Income tax expense		
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
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17.

TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

Reconciliation of tax expense
		2020
		RM

2019
RM

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
			
Loss before tax 		
(1,704,845) (1,951,358)
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
			
Income tax calculated at Malaysian tax rate of 24%		
(409,163)
(468,326)
Non-deductible expenses 		
64,043
65,606
Effect of deferred tax assets not recognised		
345,120
402,720
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
Unrecognised deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items (stated at gross) :
		2020
		RM

2019
RM

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
			
Capital allowances carry-forwards 		
16,208,000 15,948,000
Tax losses carry-forwards 		
5,565,000
4,313,000
Other deductible temporary differences		
(1,996,000) (1,922,000)
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
				
19,777,000 18,339,000
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
The unutilised tax losses will expire in the following year of assessments under the current tax
legislation of Malaysia:
		2020
		RM

2019
RM

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Unutilised tax losses
- Expire in YA2025 		
- Expire in YA2026		
- Expire in YA2027		

2,663,000
2,663,000
1,650,000
1,650,000
1,252,000
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
				
5,565,000
4,313,000
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
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17.

TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

The unabsorbed capital allowances and other deductible temporary differences do not expire
under current tax legislation. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised as it is not probable
that future taxable profits will be available against which the Company can utilise the benefits
therefrom.
The comparative figures have been restated to reflect the revised tax losses carry-forwards, capital
allowances carry-forwards and other deductible temporary differences available to the Company.
18.

RELATED PARTIES DISCLOSURES

Identity of related parties
For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Company
if the Company has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant
influence over the party in making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the
Company and the party are subject to common control or common significant influence. Related
parties may be individuals or other entities.
Key management personnel are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company either directly or indirectly. The
key management personnel include all the Directors of the Company and certain members of
senior management of the Company.
(a)

Significant related party transactions
The significant related party transactions of the Company are shown below. The balances
related to below transaction are shown in Notes 6 and 10.

		2020
		RM

2019
RM

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Penultimate holding company:
Golf membership fee 		
Cleaning, landscaping and security services		
Management fee payable		
Rental of hotel building 		
			
Immediate holding company:

Sale 		
Cleaning services and recreation fee		
Interest expenses		
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11,959
232,718
(241,920)
(120,000)

78,574
6,000
(241,920)
(120,000)

143,194
6,000
(5,884)

83,110
6,000
(5,884)
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18.

RELATED PARTIES DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

Identity of related parties (continued)
(a)

Significant related party transactions (continued)

		2020
		RM

2019
RM

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Related companies:
Sales 		
Recreation fee		
Rental of motor vehicle 		
Interest expense		
			
Government-related financial institutions:

259,175
12,000
(36,942)

104,128
12,000
(12,500)
(35,680)

Interest income		
Interest expenses		
			
State Government-related entities:

273
(11,049)

4,140
(25,462)

Quit rent and assessment		
87,250
Water		 105,796
		
Federal Government-related entities:

219,962
140,410

Sewerage		
Electricity		

(b)

76,183
56,861
387,192
590,357
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––

Transaction with Directors and key management personnel
There were no transactions with the Directors and key management personnel other than
the remuneration package paid to them in accordance with the terms and conditions of
their appointment as disclosed in Note 16.
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19.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

19.1 Categories of financial instruments
The table below provides an analysis of financial instruments categorised as Amortised Cost
(“AC”).
		Carrying
		amount
		RM

AC
RM

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
2020
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments)		
Deposits with licensed banks		
Cash and bank balances 		

644,202
644,202
108,994
108,994
324,536
324,536
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
			
1,077,732
1,077,732
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
Financial liabilities			
Trade and other payables (excluding deferred income
and government grants)		
Hire purchase creditors		
Bank overdraft		

18,092,875 18,092,875
109,551
109,551
106,940
106,940
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
			
18,309,366 18,309,366
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
2019			
Financial assets			
Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments)		
Deposits with licensed banks		
Cash and bank balances 		

477,255
477,255
108,721
108,721
271,999
271,999
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
			
857,975
857,975
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
Financial liabilities			
Trade and other payables (excluding deferred income
and government grants)		
Hire purchase creditors		
Bank overdraft		

16,513,708 16,513,708
286,918
286,918
254,379
254,379
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
			 17,055,005 17,055,005
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

19.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

19.2 Net gains and losses arising from financial instruments :
		2020
		RM

2019
RM

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
			
Net gains/(losses) arising on:
- Financial assets measured at amortised cost		
- Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 		

273
58,235
(11,049)
(25,462)
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
			
(10,776)
32,773
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
19.3 Financial risk management
The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
• Credit risk
• Liquidity risk
• Market risk
19.4 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counter party to a
financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. The Company’s exposure to
credit risk arises principally from its receivables from customers.
(a)

Receivables

Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk
		
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored
on an ongoing basis.
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether any of the trade receivables is
credit impaired.
The gross carrying amounts of credit impaired trade receivables is written off (either
partially or full) when there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the
case when the Company determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources
of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to
the write-off. Nevertheless, trade receivables that is written off could still be subject
to enforcement activities.
There are no significant changes as compared to previous year.
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(Continued)

19.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

19.4 Credit risk (continued)
(a)

Receivables (continued)
Exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral
As at the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk arising
from receivables is represented by the carrying amounts in the statement of financial
position.
Recognition and measurement of impairment losses
In managing credit risk of trade receivables, the Company manages its debtors and
takes appropriate actions (including but not limited to legal actions) to recover long
overdue balances.
The Company uses an allowance matrix to measure ECLs of trade receivables.
Consistent with debt recovery process, invoices which are past due 90 days will be
considered as credit impaired.
The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs
for trade receivables.
Gross		 Net
carrying
Loss
carrying
amount
allowance
amount
RM
RM
RM

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
2020
Not past due
Past due 1 - 30 days
Past due 31 - 60 days
Past due 61 - 90 days
Past due more than 90 days
		

174,516
174,516
51,324
51,324
57,930
57,930
13,282
13,282
472,266
(172,260)
300,006
––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
769,318
(172,260)
597,058
––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– –––––––––––––

2019
Not past due
Past due 1 - 30 days
Past due 31 - 60 days
Past due 61 - 90 days
Past due more than 90 days
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89,405
89,405
34,823
34,823
27,603
27,603
22,472
22,472
401,786
(172,260)
229,526
––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
576,089
(172,260)
403,829
––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
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19.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

19.4 Credit risk (continued)
(a)

Receivables (continued)
Recognition and measurement of impairment losses (continued)
The movements in the allowance for impairment losses of trade receivables during the
financial year were:

		2020
		RM

2019
RM

–––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
			
At 1 January 		
172,260
226,355
Reversal of impairment loss		
(54,095)
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
At 31 December 		
172,260
172,260
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
The allowance account in respect of trade receivable is used to record impairment
losses. Unless the Company is satisfied that recovery of the amount is possible, the
amount considered irrecoverable is written off against the receivables directly.
(b)

Other receivables
Credit risks on other receivables are mainly arising from deposits paid for utility. These
deposits will be received at the end of each lease terms. The Company manages the
credit risk together with the leasing arrangement.
As at the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk is
represented by their carrying amounts in the statement of financial position.

(c)

Cash and cash equivalents
Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk
The Company’s surplus funds are deposited with licensed banks.
Exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral
The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of the
deposits and balances with banks and financial institution in the statement of financial
position.
These banks and financial institutions have low credit risks. In addition, some of the
bank balances are insured by government agencies. Consequently, the Company is of
the view that the loss allowance is not material and hence, it is not provided for.
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19.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

19.5 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations
as they fall due. The Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises principally from its various
payables and borrowings.
The Company maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents and bank facilities deemed
adequate by the management to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity
to meet its liabilities when they fall due. As at 31 December 2020, the current liabilities
of the Company exceeded the current assets by RM17,372,731. The penultimate holding
company has agreed to provide continuous financial support to enable the Company to
meet its financial liabilities as and when they fall due.
It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly,
earlier, or at significantly different amounts.
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Under
1 year
RM

1-2
years
RM

2-5
years
RM

More than
5 years
RM

		

2019

		

Hire purchase creditors
Trade and other payables
(excluding deferred income
and government grants)
Bank overdraft
Lease liabilities

2020

Non-derivative
financial liabilities
3.30 - 4.10

112,132

93,445

18,687

-

-

3.30 - 4.10

301,069

194,622

93,944

12,503

-

16,513,708
16,513,708 16,513,708
254,379
7.81
254,379
254,379
432,102
5.25
480,000
120,000
120,000
240,000
–––––––––––––		––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
17,487,107		
17,549,156 17,082,709
213,944
252,503
–––––––––––––		––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– –––––––––––––

286,918

18,092,875
18,092,875 18,092,875
106,940
6.56
106,940
106,940
332,411
5.25
360,000
120,000
120,000
120,000
–––––––––––––		––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
18,641,777		
18,671,947 18,413,260
138,687
120,000
–––––––––––––		––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– –––––––––––––

109,551

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Contractual
cash flows
RM

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period based on
undiscounted contractual payments:

Maturity analysis

19.5 Liquidity risk (continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

		Contractual
Carrying
interest
amount
rates
RM
%

19.

(Continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Hire purchase creditors
Trade and other payables
(excluding deferred income
and government grants)
Bank overdraft
Lease liabilities
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19.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

19.6 Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest
rates and other prices which will affect the Company’s financial position or cash flows.
19.6.1 Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of the Company’s
financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rate. The
Company’s interest-earning financial assets and interest-bearing financial liabilities
are exposed to a risk of change in their fair value due to changes in interest rates.
Short term receivables and payables are not significantly exposed to interest rate
risk.
Risk management objectives, policies and processes for managing the risk
It is the policy of the Company to place cash balance in excess of working capital
requirements in fixed interest rate financial instruments. The Company manages
its interest rate risk by placing excess cash and cash equivalents with reputable
banks and financial institutions in generating interest income and the interest rate
movement is monitored.
Exposure to interest rate risk
The interest rate profile of the Company’s significant interest-bearing financial
instruments, based on carrying amounts as at the end of the reporting period was:
		2020
		RM

2019
RM

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
Fixed rate instruments
Financial assets 			
- Deposits with licensed banks		
108,994

108,721

Financial liabilities 			
- Hire purchase creditors		
(109,551)
(286,918)
- Bank overdraft 		
(106,940)
(254,379)
- Lease liabilities 		
(332,411)
(432,102)
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
			
(439,908)
(864,678)
––––––––––––– –––––––––––––
Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis
Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments
The Company does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss, and the Company does not designate derivatives
as hedging instruments under a fair value hedged accounting model. Therefore, a
change in interest rates at the end of the reporting period would not affect profit
or loss.
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19.

Total fair
value
RM

Carrying
amount
RM

286,918
286,918
286,918
286,918
––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– –––––––––––––

109,551
109,551
109,551
109,551
––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– ––––––––––––– –––––––––––––

Fair value of hire purchase creditor are determined based on discounted cash flows using a rate based on the current market rate
of borrowing of the Company at the reporting date.

Valuation technique used in determination of fair values within Level 3

Financial liabilities
Hire purchase creditors

2019

Financial liabilities
Hire purchase creditors

2020

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––

Fair value of financial instruments not carried at fair value
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
Total
RM
RM
RM
RM

The table below analyses financial instruments not carried at fair value.

The carrying amounts of cash and bank balances, deposits with licensed banks, short-term receivables and payables and short term
borrowings reasonably approximate their fair values due to the relatively short term nature of these financial instruments.

19.7 Fair value information

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(Continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

20.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong
credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders
value which is in line with the policies set by the penultimate holding company, Bina Darulaman
Berhad.
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STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS

pursuant to Section 251(2) of the Companies Act 2016

In the opinion of the Directors, the financial statements set out on pages 26 to 68 are drawn up in
accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards
and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Company as of 31 December 2020 and of its financial performance and cash
flows for the financial year then ended.
Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

.....................................................................
Dato’ Haji Abdul Rahman bin Abdullah
Director

.....................................................................
Syed Yusoff bin Syed Othman
Director
Alor Setar,
Date: 25 May 2021
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STATUTORY DECLARATION

pursuant to Section 251(1)(b) of the Companies Act 2016

I, Akhtar bin Ahmad Darwis, the officer primarily responsible for the financial management of BDB
Darulaman Golf Resort Berhad, do solemnly and sincerely declare that the financial statements set out on
pages 26 to 68 are, to the best of my knowledge and belief, correct and I make this solemn declaration
conscientiously believing the declaration to be true, and by virtue of the Statutory Declarations Act
1960.
Subscribed and solemnly declared by the abovenamed Akhtar bin Ahmad Darwis,
NRIC: 870413-02-5425, at Alor Setar in the State of Kedah Darul Aman on 25 May 2021.		
						

.....................................................................
Akhtar bin Ahmad Darwis
Before me:
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF
BDB DARULAMAN GOLF RESORT BERHAD
(Registration No. 199201022806 (254310 - M))
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
OPINION

We have audited the financial statements of BDB Darulaman Golf Resort Berhad, which comprise the
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, as
set out on pages 26 to 68.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Company as at 31 December 2020, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial
Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia.
BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International
Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our auditors’ report. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
INDEPENDENCE AND OTHER ETHICAL RESPONSIBILITIES

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, Conduct
and Practice) of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“By-Laws”) and the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International
Independence Standards) (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the By-Laws and the IESBA Code.
MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 1(b) of the financial statements, which indicates that the Company incurred
a net loss of RM1,704,845 during the year ended 31 December 2020 and as of that date, there was
a deficit in total equity attributable to owners of the Company of RM4,369,007 and the Company’s
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by RM17,372,731, indicating that a material uncertainty
exists that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern. The
validity of the going concern assumption is on the premise that the Company has the commitment from
the penultimate holding company to provide continuous financial support to the Company, to enable
the Company to meet its liabilities as and when they fall due to maintain the Company in existence as
a going concern for the foreseeable future.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF BDB DARULAMAN GOLF RESORT BERHAD (Continued)

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING CONCERN (CONTINUED)

At the date of this report, there is no reason for the Directors to believe that there is any significant
uncertainty that the penultimate holding company will not continue its financial support. Accordingly,
the financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification
of recorded asset amounts and additional amounts of liabilities that may be necessary if the Company
is unable to continue as a going concern.
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
INFORMATION OTHER
REPORT THEREON

THAN

THE

FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

AND

AUDITORS’

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements
of the Company and our auditors’ report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements of the Company does not cover the annual report and we do
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Company, our responsibility is to read the
annual report and, in doing so, consider whether the annual report is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements of the Company or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of the annual report, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.
RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements of the
Company that give a true and fair view in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards,
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in
Malaysia. The Directors are also responsible for such internal control as the Directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements of the Company that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements of the Company, the Directors are responsible for assessing the
ability of the Company to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to
liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF BDB DARULAMAN GOLF RESORT BERHAD (Continued)

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the
Company as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with approved standards on auditing in
Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International
Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the Company,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the internal control of the Company.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Company to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements of the Company or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Company to cease to continue as a going concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of the Company,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements of the Company represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that gives a true and fair view.
We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
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TO THE MEMBERS OF BDB DARULAMAN GOLF RESORT BERHAD (Continued)

OTHER MATTER

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 266
of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to
any other person for the content of this report.

KPMG PLT
(LLP0010081-LCA & AF 0758)
Chartered Accountants

Tai Yoon Foo
Approval Number : 02948/05/2022 J
Chartered Accountant

Penang
Date: 25 May 2021
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